STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 29 2018

SC Court of Appeals

MYKEL JOHNSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001684

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the PCR court err in concluding as a matter of law that Petitioner's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to an officer's improper comment on his silence was procedurally barred pursuant to Section 17-27-20(B) of the South Carolina Code because the unpreserved issue regarding the officer's improper comment was raised in a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), on direct appeal?

II. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in abrogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to object to a police officer's testimony that Petitioner invoked his Fifth Amendment rights to silence and counsel subsequent to his arrest and the advisement of rights?

STATEMENT

Petitioner lived in the same apartment complex as Frank Babecki¹ and his wife, Desiree Constantineau. App. 170, ll. 12-23; App. 201, ll. 10-11. At various times, Babecki would contact Petitioner to purchase marijuana. App. 177, ll. 12-15; App. 181, ll. 2-7. On October 27, 2011, Babecki sent a text message to Petitioner asking “could you spot me a 10 and I’ll have it for you by two o’clock. I need a smoke bad. I got like two bucks. Just until my depsit [sic] goes through and I give you an extra 10 for fronting me homey.” App. 176, ll. 14-25; App. 181, ll. 11-19; App. 182, ll. 18-25. At trial, Babecki explained “a 10” meant \$10 worth of marijuana, but he could not recall if he sent the text message to request marijuana for himself or for a friend. App. 176, ll. 12-13; App. 177, ll. 2-7; App. 181, ll. 20-25.

Also on October 27, 2011, Babecki’s friend, Mike, or Mike’s brother, was robbed during a “drug deal gone bad.” App. 151, ll. 7-25; App. 178, ll. 1-17; App. 184, ll. 6-8; App. 191, ll. 21-25; App. 207, ll. 14-18. Babecki suspected Petitioner had committed the robbery against his friend. App. 151, ll. 7-12. While the robbery did not involve guns or violence, it did involve a promise to sell a quantity of marijuana between \$250 and \$375 with no marijuana being provided despite the exchange of funds. App. 151, ll. 17-25; App. 178, ll. 1-17; App. 192, l. 24 – App. 193, l. 2; App. 193, ll. 17-19.

On October 28, 2011, Babecki and Constantineau were leaving the apartment complex in a rental car. App. 171, ll. 14-19; App. 172, ll. 6-8; App. 203, ll. 4-6. Along the way, Babecki claimed he saw Petitioner walking along the sidewalk within the complex. App. 172, ll. 11-14; App. 173, ll. 5-6; App. 203, ll. 6-7; App. 203, ll. 11-14. Babecki yelled out the window and

¹ At the time of Petitioner’s trial, Frank Babecki had pending criminal charges for financial transaction card fraud. App. 179, ll. 11-13. His charges were “scheduled to go into [the solicitor’s] Pre-trial Diversion program.” App. 179, ll. 21-23.

asked what happened last night in reference to the alleged robbery during the drug deal. App. 172, ll. 14-23; App. 174, ll. 14-15; App. 183, l. 20 – App. 184, l. 3; App. 189, l. 20 – App. 190, l. 1; App. 202, ll. 7-8. When Petitioner did not answer, Babecki and his wife started driving away. App. 202, ll. 8-9; App. 203, ll. 11-20. According to Babecki, Petitioner shot twice at the rear of his car while the car was driving away. App. 174, ll. 20-24; App. 194, ll. 11-15; App. 202, ll. 9-10.

Thereafter, Babecki and his wife drove to the parking lot of a nearby restaurant, where they called 911. App. 87, ll. 5-7; App. 157, ll. 11-15; App. 204, ll. 6-8; App. 204, ll. 23-25. The police arrived shortly thereafter. App. 175, ll. 14-15. Oddly, Babecki's friend, Mike, also arrived at the scene shortly after the shooting. App. 191, l. 24 - App. 192, l. 3. According to Babecki, Mike was walking and "was at the scene when the cops were there." App. 192, ll. 1-3.

Babecki and his wife gave video recorded statements to police, in which they claimed the shooter was "Hot Boy." App. 100, ll. 14-23; App. 138, ll. 4-25; App. 205, ll. 1-6. Investigator George Erdel described Babecki's interview as containing lies of omission. App. 146, ll. 2-24. While Erdel did not know if "anything [Babecki] said was overtly not true," he "felt like maybe there would be something - - in other words, if you would say it would be a lie, I guess, of omission, in other words, there were things that were not revealed." App. 146, ll. 18-22. Erdel qualified his answer by saying he could not "think of anything where he said that was like in and of itself like a lie, not true." App. 146, ll. 22-24. The police searched a "database" of "street names" and determined Petitioner's nickname was "Hot Boy." App. 100, ll. 20-25; App. 131, ll. 6-21. This database search also revealed Petitioner lived in the same apartment complex as Babecki and his wife. App. 100, l. 25 – App. 101, l. 1; App. 131, l. 22 – App. 132, l. 2. The

police arrested Petitioner, charging him with two counts of attempted murder. App. 102, ll. 13-23; App. 139, l. 7 – App. 140, l. 23.

On December 15, 2011, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Petitioner for two counts of attempted murder (2011-GS-07-2269; -2270). App. 415-416; App. 418-419. On June 18, 2012, the state, represented by Jeffrey S. Stephens, called the case to trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury. App. 1. Eric Erickson represented Petitioner. App. 1.

Relevant trial facts

The second witness called in the state's case-in-chief was Investigator Joshua Dowling, the lead investigator in the case. When the prosecutor questioned Dowling about his interrogation of Petitioner, Dowling told the jury that Petitioner refused to cooperate with the police investigation. App. 102, l. 24 – App. 103, l. 16.

Q. And did you subsequently interview him or take any other investigative steps?

A. Yes, when he was taken into custody, he was brought back to the Beaufort City Police Department. We always want to get everybody's side of the story to give them a chance to - -

Q. Investigator Erdel [sic], let me just ask, uh, did Mr. - - were there any other evidence that was obtained in this case after Mr. Johnson was taken into custody?

A. As it pertains to?

Q. Is there any additional evidence that you as the lead investigator in the case were able to obtain after Mr. Johnson was taken into custody?

A. **Mr. Johnson did not want to talk. He wanted the representation of an attorney when we asked him for his side of the story. From the defendant's side, we did not develop any information.**

App. 102, l. 24 – App. 103, l. 16 (emphasis added). Trial counsel did not object.

In light of the prosecutor's desire to introduce statements allegedly made to George Erdel, a police officer, by Petitioner upon his arrest, the trial judge presided over a hearing in accordance with Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). During the hearing, Erdel claimed that when Petitioner was arrested, he said "he wanted to turn himself in and he was going to do so once he had an attorney," and he asked how the police had found him. App. 23, ll. 12-16. Petitioner also told Erdel there was something on his phone that he wanted Erdel to see, but Erdel did not "understand exactly what he was saying." App. 23, ll. 16-19. As Erdel had not yet advised Petitioner of his rights, he did not pose any questions to Petitioner. App. 23, ll. 20-25.

Shortly thereafter, Petitioner was transported to the local police department. App. 24, ll. 3-5. According to Erdel, when Petitioner was questioned at the police station, he was advised of his rights and "he invoked his rights." App. 24, ll. 5-14. At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties argued regarding the admissibility of the statements allegedly made to Erdel just after his arrest. App. 27, l. 24 – App. 28, l. 23. The judge found the statements were voluntary, not elicited by police interrogation, and were "spontaneous utterances." App. 28, l. 24 – App. 29, l. 2. Thus, the trial judge held the statements were admissible.²

Erdel's testimony during the pre-trial hearing established that Petitioner's invocation of his rights to silence and counsel occurred *after* he was advised of his rights. This testimony also placed trial counsel on notice that Petitioner had invoked his rights to silence and counsel *and* that the state intended to elicit such testimony during the trial. However, trial counsel did not move to exclude the testimony or request any preliminary ruling on the admissibility of the

² When Erdel testified before the jury, the solicitor elicited these two statements during his direct examination. App. 140, l. 24 – App. 142, l. 2. Trial counsel did *not* object or renew his pre-trial objections.

testimony. As previously noted, trial counsel did not object and move to strike when Dowling testified improperly regarding Petitioner's invocation of his rights during the trial.

Dowling arrived to the scene shortly after the 911 call. App. 90, ll. 14-15; App. 90, l. 22 – App. 91, l. 13. Dowling recovered a single bullet from the car. App. 97, ll. 14-22. The police collected no other evidence from the car. App. 98, ll. 9-19. The police collected no evidence from the scene, and no cartridge cases were found near where the shooting allegedly occurred. App. 99, ll. 2-14. Although the police recovered the bullet from the car, the police were unable to provide the caliber of the bullet with any certainty. App. 107, ll. 12-21. Dowling guessed it was either a .40 caliber or .45 caliber based on the size. App. 107, ll. 18-21. He explained the bullet was not examined forensically because a gun was not recovered in order to conduct any comparison testing. App. 107, l. 22 – App. 108, l. 10. In his opinion, there was “no need to have a ballistic[s] analysis done.” App. 108, ll. 9-10. In light of Petitioner being arrested outside the “four-hour window” established by police protocol in order to test a suspect for gunshot residue, the police did not collect any swabs from Petitioner's hands. App. 100, ll. 9-13.

Petitioner defended against the charges by arguing that Babecki wanted revenge against him for the “drug deal gone bad.” App. 285, ll. 3-13. Babecki concocted the elaborate ruse of a shooting to mete out his revenge. App. 285, ll. 3-13. Additionally, Petitioner called his friend, Kendalle Simmons, as a witness to establish an alibi. Simmons told the jurors that on October 28, 2011, he and Petitioner were visiting with Malcolm Moore. App. 249, ll. 1-21. Simmons arrived at Moore's home around 3 p.m., and Petitioner was already there. App. 249, ll. 1-3; App. 249, ll. 10-11; App. 252, ll. 7-16. When Simmons left between 6:45 p.m. and 7 p.m., Petitioner was still there. App. 249, ll. 17-21; App. 254, ll. 2-7.

The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 312, ll. 8-17. Judge Mullen sentenced sixteen-year old Petitioner to fifteen years' imprisonment on each count and ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. App. 317, ll. 11-20; App. 417; App. 420.

Direct appeal

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Kathrine Haggard Hudgins by way of a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 320-331. The issue raised on appeal was whether the trial judge erred in failing to strike testimony by the investigator that Petitioner “did not want to talk and wanted the representation of any attorney because the testimony constituted an improper comment on [his] constitutional right to remain silent and right to an attorney.” App. 320-331.

In the brief, appellate counsel quoted Dowling’s testimony regarding Petitioner’s invocation and argued the judge erred in failing to strike the testimony. App. 325-326. At no point in the brief did appellate counsel state or argue that trial counsel objected to the testimony. App. 325-326. Certainly, appellate counsel could make no such statement or argument because trial counsel had *not* objected to the testimony. In fact, appellate counsel filed the brief pursuant to Anders, supra, signaling to the Court of Appeals that counsel found no *preserved* issue that would warrant reversal.

Thereafter, the Court of Appeals reviewed the entire record for any preserved issues with potential merit. See McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 474, 746 S.E.2d 41, 46 (2013)(explaining that “[u]nder the Anders procedure, an appellate court is required to review the entire record, including the complete trial transcript, for any *preserved* issues with potential merit”); State v. Lawrence, 349 S.C. 129, 130, 561 S.E.2d 633, 634 (Ct. App. 2002)(noting that after its review in accordance with Anders, the “only preserved issue at trial” was the directed verdict motion).

Finding no *preserved* issues with potential merit, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal and relieved appellate counsel on April 2, 2014. App. 332-333; State v. Johnson, 2014-UP-134 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 2, 2014). Remittitur was issued on April 18, 2014. App. 334.

Post-conviction relief

On July 21, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 335-341.³ On May 17, 2016, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 347. James K. Falk represented Petitioner, and J. Rutledge Johnson represented the state. App. 348.

PCR hearing

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel⁴ acknowledged Dowling testified about Petitioner's post-arrest silence and trial counsel posed no objection to the testimony. App. 371, l. 20 – App. 373, l. 2. In fact, trial counsel did not even consider objecting to the testimony. App. 373, l. 2. Trial counsel stated frankly, "I didn't think there was anything wrong with that." App. 373, l. 7.

When PCR counsel began questioning trial counsel regarding the long line of cases excluding such testimony, the state posed an objection, stating the issue was "improper for a PCR forum." App. 373, ll. 10-16. According to the state, this was "the exact issue raised at the Court of Appeals through an Anders versus California brief. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction. That was dealt with on direct appeal." App. 373, ll. 10-16. PCR counsel countered that the issue was "not preserved" for appeal, and thus, appellate counsel had filed an Anders

³ During the PCR hearing, the state agreed that PCR counsel had amended the application to include an allegation "that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Mr. Dowling making some type of reference, which the state disputes, on Mr. Johnson's right to remain silent." App. 365, ll. 16-20.

⁴ At the PCR hearing, trial counsel explained he was retained by Petitioner's mother to represent Petitioner on the criminal charges while Petitioner was in jail awaiting trial. App. 351, ll. 12-18.

brief, not a merits brief. App. 373, ll. 17-20. The appellate court would not consider the issue “because trial counsel failed to preserve the objection that [Petitioner]’s Fifth Amendment right to remain silent had been impeded or whatever, had been jeopardized, because the Court was able - - because the jury was able to hear that.” App. 373, l. 20 – App. 374, l. 1. The jury was permitted “to draw their own negative conclusions.” App. 374, ll. 1-3. PCR counsel was emphatic, “It did not go up on appeal. It was an Anders brief; not a merits brief; and the reason why is because the issue was not preserved. You got to preserve these issues in order for it to go up. There is no clear error doctrine.” App. 374, ll. 3-7.

The state responded that “if an issue is unpreserved the Court of Appeals is very quick to tell appellate counsel.” App. 374, ll. 9-10. Further, the state argued,

[A]n Anders brief is not just when you just think it’s not preserved. An Anders brief, the whole point is that, in good conscience and through the duty that appellate counsel has to argue merit issues, if they feel that there is no merit issues to raise, they’re allowed to file an Anders versus California brief. The Court then reviews the entire record for any *preserved* errors and makes a decision.

App. 374, ll. 11-18 (emphasis added). According to the state, the Court of Appeals “affirmed” and made “no mention concerning the fact that this issue was not preserved.” App. 374, ll. 19-22. In the state’s view, “the Court of Appeals dealt with this issue.” App. 374, ll. 22-23. “[T]he fact that this issue was briefed on direct appeal” was proof, according to the state, “that this [issue was] not proper for PCR forum” as the issue had “already been addressed because an Anders brief [was filed] ... [and] the Court is presumed to have reviewed the entire record and ma[d]e an opinion - - or issued an opinion based on they reviewed the entire record.” App. 378, ll. 12-18. Thus, the issue was procedurally barred as “not proper ... for the PCR forum.” App. 374, ll. 24-25.

PCR counsel countered that the Court of Appeals “didn’t say anything other than affirm,” and that no conclusion could be drawn from the opinion to suggest that the Court of Appeals entertained and rejected an unpreserved issue. App. 375, ll. 5-8. PCR counsel explained trial counsel failed to preserve the issue for appeal by failing to object to the comment on Petitioner’s exercise of his constitutional right to silence was reversible error in light of controlling case law. App. 375, ll. 9-19. According to PCR counsel, the issue being raised at the PCR hearing was not an issue that could have been raised on direct appeal because it was not preserved. App. 379, ll. 6-9. PCR counsel continued, “I mean, that’s the whole issue here is that these are issues that were not preserved.” App. 379, ll. 9-11. The Court of Appeals did not review, and could not have reviewed, the error because it was not preserved, and South Carolina’s “very rigorous error preservation rules” would prohibit such review. App. 379, ll. 16-19.

Order denying relief

By an order dated June 20, 2016, Judge Goldsmith denied Petitioner relief. App. 397-403. The PCR judge found Petitioner’s allegation that trial counsel “was ineffective for failing to [object to Officer] Dowling’s testimony that when [Petitioner] was arrested, he invoked his right to remain silent” was “without merit.” App. 402. According to the PCR judge, the issue raised a “direct appeal issue that [was] procedurally barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(b) (2003).” App. 402. Although the PCR court correctly noted that “[p]ost-conviction relief is not a substitute for a direct appeal” and that “[a] post-conviction relief application cannot assert any issues that could have been raised ... on direct appeal,” the PCR court erred in holding that because this issue was raised on direct appeal, the issue was “not proper for the PCR forum.” See App. 402.

Motion to alter or amend

Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend on July 7, 2016, including a copy of his proposed order granting relief. App. 404-413. In his motion to alter or amend, PCR counsel took issue with the court's failure to consider whether trial counsel failed to properly preserve the issue of the officer commenting on Petitioner's silence for appeal. App. 404-413. In other words, as PCR counsel explained, trial counsel failed to object to the officer's testimony, and as a result, the issue was not preserved for review. App. 404-413. Error preservation rules in South Carolina do not permit an issue to be raised for the first time on appeal; rather, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. App. 404-413 (citing State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120-121, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997)). In light of the fact that trial counsel failed to object, which would have been necessary to preserve the issue for appellate review, any review pursuant to Anders by the appellate court would necessarily have excluded consideration of this issue. App. 404-413. Thus, the issue presented for PCR was *not* a direct appeal issue because it was not preserved for appellate review. App. 404-413. The question properly before the PCR court was whether the failure to object amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution. App. 404-413. This question went unanswered as the PCR court improperly applied a procedural bar.

In his motion, PCR counsel quoted the specific objectionable testimony and explained the transcript "reflect[ed] no contemporaneous objection" from trial counsel. App. 404-413. PCR counsel also explained that trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that "he did not see any grounds upon which to object to Officer Dowling's testimony" and "that his failure to object was neither purposeful nor was it part of his trial strategy." App. 404-413. Thus, PCR counsel

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