ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
APR 01 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Mykel Johnson.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001684

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103334

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Other Counsel of Record:

Susan B. Hackett, Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Respondent concedes the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner's claim was barred for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to Section 17-27-20(B), agreeing with the Assistant Attorney General's erroneous argument at the PCR hearing.**

A remand to the Circuit Court for a determination on the merits of Petitioner's claim is the only proper remedy. The PCR court incorrectly dismissed Petitioner's allegation that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Dowling's testimony on the basis of a lack of jurisdiction:

This allegation raises a direct appeal issue that is procedurally barred by S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-20(b) (2003). Post-conviction relief is not a substitute for a direct appeal. *Simmons v. State*, 264 S.C. 417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1974). A post-conviction relief application cannot assert any issues that could have been raised at trial or on direct appeal. *Ashlev v. State*, 260 S.C. 436, 196 S.E.2d 501 (1973). This was the exact issue raised in Applicant's direct appeal. (See Anders Brief of Appellant pp. 5-6). As such, this issue is not proper for the PCR forum. Therefore, this allegation is denied.

App. 402.

The PCR court appears to have based this decision on the Assistant Attorney General's erroneous legal argument at the PCR hearing. The Assistant Attorney General argued that Petitioner's *Anders* brief, on Petitioner's unpreserved *Doyle* violation allegation, precluded review of that issue for PCR. App. 373-377. Respondent concedes the Assistant Attorney General's argument was legally incorrect. Respondent also concedes the PCR court erred in agreeing with the Assistant Attorney General's erroneous position.

The law is clear that even in *Anders* briefing situations, the normal *Strickland* analysis applies. "With a claim that counsel erroneously failed to file a merits brief, it will be easier for a defendant-appellant to satisfy the first part of the *Strickland* test, for it is only necessary for him to show that a reasonably competent attorney would have found one non-frivolous issue warranting a merits brief." *Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259, 288 (2000). "[U]nder the *Anders* procedure, an

appellate court is required to review the entire record, including the complete trial transcript, for any preserved issues with potential merit. Thus, this Court concluded the merits of an unpreserved claim were not considered by the court of appeals on direct appeal pursuant to *Anders*.” *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 466, 765 S.E.2d 123, 128 (2014). Therefore, the PCR court’s mistaken acceptance of the Assistant Attorney General’s argument that Petitioner’s *Anders* brief, on an issue that was unpreserved, procedurally barred Petitioner’s claim was an error of law. “[W]e review questions of law *de novo*, and will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*, at 465, 765 S.E.2d at 127.

Accordingly, this Court should grant the petition for certiorari, reverse the PCR court’s dismissal of Petitioner’s *Doyle* allegation, and remand for a PCR hearing and findings on the merits of that allegation.

II. **This Court should not address the merits of Petitioner’s allegation *de novo* because the merits of Petitioner’s allegation were not ruled on by the Circuit Court and, thus, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.**

This Court should not address the merits of Petitioner’s claim *de novo* because Petitioner’s claim is not preserved for appellate review. The PCR court did not make a finding of fact on whether Counsel was deficient or Petitioner was prejudiced by the *Doyle* violation. Accordingly, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and remand to the PCR court for a finding of fact as to whether Counsel was deficient for or Petitioner was prejudiced by Petitioner’s allegation.

The PCR court failed to rule on the merits of Petitioner’s *Doyle* allegation. App. 402. The PCR court did not make a finding of fact on whether Counsel was deficient or Petitioner was prejudiced under *Strickland*. Thus, there is no ruling on the merits for this Court to review. The appropriate remedy when the PCR court fails to make specific

findings of fact as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 is for the order to be vacated and the case to be remanded for a new PCR hearing. “The PCR court dismissed McCray’s allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel without making findings of fact on the specific allegations raised. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (1976), requires the PCR court to make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented. The PCR court’s conclusions regarding ineffective assistance are insufficient for appellate review and fail to meet the standard set forth in the statute. Accordingly, we reverse the order denying McCray relief and remand for a new PCR hearing.” *McCray v. State*, 305 S.C. 329, 330, 408 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1991). Accordingly this Court should grant certiorari and remand to the PCR court for a full factual finding. “[A] preemptive ruling on the merits would be unfair to the State, which would be deprived of the opportunity to have this matter fully resolved by a proper order from the PCR court. In this regard, the State correctly asserts it should not be foreclosed from the panoply of arguments available to it, especially related to the prejudice prong in the PCR analysis.” *Simmons v. State*, 416 S.C. 584, 593, 788 S.E.2d 220, 225 (2016). The State needs the opportunity to create a record as to prejudice, as this testimony was not elicited from trial counsel during the evidentiary hearing. The State also recognizes and agrees with Appellant’s statement that “PCR is the proper forum for Petitioner’s claim for relief.” Appellant cites to cases and argues that the PCR court is the proper forum to decide the merits of Appellant’s case, but then concludes that this Court should rule on the merits. The State finds this argument inconsistent, but would concur with Appellant that the proper forum for a ruling on the merits would be the PCR court. The State is not attempting to circumvent the judicial system by asking for a remand in this case for the PCR court to

hear testimony concerning the prejudice prong of the Doyle issue. The State simply requests this issue be argued and ruled upon in the proper forum, as it is conceded that this is what should have been done originally. Therefore, where the PCR court failed to consider an allegation's merits and make the appropriate findings of fact regarding the allegation a new PCR hearing is the appropriate remedy.

Accordingly, this Court should grant the petition for certiorari, reverse the PCR court's dismissal of Petitioner's *Doyle* allegation, and remand for a PCR hearing and findings on the merits of that allegation.

III. Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to object to testimony that commented on Petitioner's invocation of his constitutional rights were Petitioner made pre-Miranda statements to law enforcement and the four Doyle factors show a lack of prejudice under Strickland.

Counsel did not have the opportunity to explain his lack of objection to the *Doyle* violation because the court did not consider the allegation that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the *Doyle* violation on its merits. Therefore, there was no trial strategy or reason given by Counsel for his failure to object. However, Petitioner cannot prove he was prejudiced by the *Doyle* violation.

Officer Dowling testimony impermissibly commented on Petitioner's silence and his invocation of his right to an attorney:

Q: Is there any additional evidence that you as a lead investigator in the case were able to obtain after Mr. Johnson was taken into custody?

A: Mr. Johnson did not want to talk. He wanted the representation of an attorney when we asked him for his side of the story. From the defendant's side, we did not develop any information."

App. p. 103.

Officer Dowling's testimony was unresponsive to the solicitor's question and violated *Doyle* by commenting on Petitioner's choice to remain silent and invoke his right to an attorney after being *Mirandized*. "The State may not comment on a defendant's exercise of a constitutional right." *McFadden v. State*, 342 S.C. 637, 640, 539 S.E.2d 391, 393 (2000).

However, Petitioner made statements to law enforcement before he was *Mirandized* that divested the State's *Doyle* violation of its potential prejudice. "[Petitioner] did say that he was going to turn himself in once he hired a lawyer. There was – he didn't specify and I didn't ask. He said there was something in his phone that would tell the story. Then he asked how did y'all find me." App. 141. These statements were made by Petitioner before he was *Mirandized* and, thus, were admissible. "*Doyle* is only applicable after *Miranda* warnings have been given." *Brown v. State*, 375 S.C. 464, 479, 652 S.E.2d 765, 773 (Ct. App. 2007). Petitioner's statements that his exonerating story would be told by his cell-phone and he would turn himself in once he had an attorney were admissible and encompassed the substance of the State's *Doyle* violation. Those pre-*Miranda* statements were admissible and, accordingly, were used by the State in its closing argument. App. 273. The *Doyle* violation provided the jury with no new information and gave the State no new tools by which to assert Petitioner's guilt. The jury heard Petitioner's request for an attorney and that his story would be told by the information on his cell phone through his pre-*Miranda* statements. The State was able to argue Petitioner's guilty conscience through his pre-*Miranda* statements. Petitioner's admissible pre-*Miranda* statements encompassed the entirety of the potential prejudice of the *Doyle* violation. Therefore, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the *Doyle* violation because he was exposed to the potential prejudice by his pre-*Miranda* statements.

Further, Petitioner's case is conclusively shown to lack prejudice by the four *Doyle* factors. Petitioner concedes the first two. Petitioner's alibi is incomplete and lacking in credibility. The

evidence against Petitioner is substantial. Based on this lack of prejudice, this Court should deny Petitioner's requests for a finding that Counsel was ineffective and a new trial.

- A. The Doyle violation was cumulative to Petitioner's pre-Miranda statements and silence. Therefore, the Doyle was of minuscule prejudicial value and Petitioner has not proven there was a reasonable probability the Doyle violation changed the result of the trial.

Petitioner has not proven he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to object to Dowling's statement concerning Petitioner's silence and invocation of his right to an attorney. "A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670.

Petitioner has the burden to prove he was prejudiced by the *Doyle* violation. "Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application." *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Petitioner must prove that Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

One piece of cumulative testimony, which was not once commented on by the State in its closing argument, did not create a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. An analogous example is found in *Truesdale*: "The comment concerning Appellant's silence is minuscule in the record. Its negligible effect is shown by failure of his competent, experienced counsel to object at the time it was made, or at any other time. It was never once referred to or commented upon by the Solicitor during the trial, or in jury argument. Moreover, it was precipitated by Appellant's own spontaneous remark upon awakening and does

not indicate an attempt on the part of the State to elicit an incriminating response.” *State v. Truesdale*, 285 S.C. 13, 19; 328 S.E.2d 53, 56 (1984), (overruled on other grounds).

Erdel permissibly testified Petitioner requested an attorney during his arrest. App. p. 140. Dowling impermissibly testified Petitioner requested an attorney after being *Mirandized*. App. p. 103. However, Petitioner’s post-*Miranda* request for an attorney was merely cumulative to Petitioner’s pre-*Miranda* request for an attorney. Likewise, Petitioner refused to respond to Babecki when Babecki texted Petitioner accusing him of firing shots at himself and his pregnant wife. App. p. 198. Petitioner also made the statement to Erdel that “there was something in his phone that will tell the story.” App. p. 141. The inference from this statement is that Petitioner will not be telling law enforcement his story. Petitioner’s statement to Erdel was pre-*Miranda* and thus admissible. These statements demonstrate Petitioner’s failure to tell his side of the story post-*Miranda*. The State used only Petitioner’s permissible pre-*Miranda* statements to show Petitioner’s guilty conscience.

Petitioner’s pre-*Miranda* request for an attorney, the admission of which does not violate *Doyle*, extracts the prejudice from Dowling’s mention of Petitioner’s post-*Miranda* request for an attorney. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to show that but for the deficiency “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Petitioner’s post-*Miranda* request for an attorney is merely cumulative to admissible evidence and, therefore, there is no reasonable probability Counsel’s failure to object to the statement changed the result of the proceeding. “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” *State v. Johnson*, 298 S.C. 496, 499, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989).

The two sentences concerning Petitioner's post-*Miranda* invocation of rights had minuscule prejudicial value because any prejudice was already established to the jury through permissible avenues. There was no reason for Counsel to object to the *Doyle* violation because there was nothing to gain from objecting. If Counsel had objected, been sustained, and requested a curative instruction that instruction would not cure Petitioner's pre-*Miranda* statements. Petitioner's desire for an attorney and his failure to tell law enforcement 'his side of the story' were already in evidence. App. p. 141. The pre-*Miranda* statements had been ruled admissible through a *Denno* hearing and the jury heard them through law enforcement testimony. Every potential argument from the post-*Miranda* invocation of rights was argued through the permissible pre-*Miranda* statements. "You can consider the statements he made when he was apprehended...he said I was going to turn myself in when I get a lawyer." App. p. 273. "Mr. Johnson never replied to. Consider that. Text message about trying to kill them. No response." App. p. 273. Despite the jury's reception of unconstitutional testimony, the cumulative pre-*Miranda* statements of Petitioner rendered any potential prejudice minuscule.

The trial court also correctly charged the jury considering Petitioner's silence:

"I instruct you and emphasize that the fact that the defendant did not testify is not a factor to be considered by you in any way in your deliberation and in your consideration on the question of the guilty or innocence of the defendant. It must not be considered by you in any manner whatsoever. A defendant has the constitutional right to remain silent. The assertion of this right must not be considered by you in your deliberations. I repeat, Ladies and Gentleman, under your oath, you are to draw no conclusions whatsoever from the fact that the defendant in this case did not testify. The fact that this defendant did not testify should not even be discussed in a jury room."

App. 300 l. 9-23. (emphasis added)

The trial court's strong language assisted the jury in understanding Petitioner's silence was not to be considered. In this case, the trial court's instruction goes too far. The State can use a

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